2002

Western United Mines INC., a Utah Corporation,  
Syndicators INC, a Utah Corporation, J.R. Kirk Jr.,  
an individual, and Steven D. Martens, an Individual  
vs. Dan K. Shaw an individual, and Del-Rio  
Resources, INC., a Utah Corporation : Brief of  
Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## I. JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Section 78-2a-3(2)(j), *Utah Code Annotated*.

## II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

### A. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

#### 1. Standard of Appellate Review:

“Summary judgment is appropriate only when ‘there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and . . . the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.’

U.R.C.P. 56(c); see also, e.g., State ex rel. Div. of Forestry, Fire & State Lands v. Tooele County, 2002 UT 8, ¶8, 44 P.3d 680; Tustian v. Schriever, 2001 UT 84, ¶ 13, 34 P.3d

755. The Utah Supreme Court has explained its application of U.R.C.P. 56 as follows:

We will affirm summary judgment only when “there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and . . . the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” We review the trial court’s legal conclusions for correctness, granting no deference. **In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, we view the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.**

Alder v. Bayer Corp., 2002 UT 115, ¶ 20, 61 P.3d 1068, 1075-76 (citations and quotation marks omitted, alteration in original). “Summary judgment procedure is generally considered a drastic remedy, requiring strict compliance with the rule authorizing it” Timm v. Dewsnup, 851 P.2d 1178, 1181 (Utah 1993). “‘If the [requirements of the rules] are not fulfilled, both in letter and spirit, the summary judgment procedure may become a vehicle of injustice rather than a salutary medium of reaching a swift but just result on a

pure matter of law, as intended by the framers of the rules.” Id. (quoting Cleveland Trust Co. v. Foster, 93 So.2d 112, 114 (Fla.1957)). The Utah Supreme Court has further cautioned that

inasmuch as the party moved against is being defeated without the privilege of a trial, the court should carefully scrutinize the ‘submissions’ and contentions he makes thereon to see if his contentions and proposals as to proof of material facts, if resolved in his favor, would entitle him to prevail; and if it so appears, the motion for summary judgment should be denied and a trial should be had for the purpose of resolving the disputed issues of fact and determining the rights of the parties . . . .

Rich v. McGovern, 551 P.2d 1266, 1268 (Utah 1976).

It follows that the burden of proof in a motion for summary judgment rests on the moving party. See Jensen v. IHC Hosps., 944 P.2d 327, 339 (Utah 1997) (“On a motion for summary judgment, the moving party bears the burden of proof for its motion, namely, the burden of proving that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”). In contrast, “[i]t is well settled that a party opposing a motion for summary judgment need not ‘prove’ its theory or theories, but rather it need only ‘establish facts that create a genuine issue of material fact.’” Territorial Savings & Loan Ass’n v. Baird, 781 P.2d 452, 456 n.5 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) (citations omitted) (quoting Amjacs Interwest, Inc. v. Design Assocs., 635 P.2d 53, 55 (Utah 1981)).

Under Rule 56(e), once the proponent of summary judgment establishes a prima facie case, the burden shifts to the opponent to provide some evidence in opposition to the motion and in support of the essential elements of her claim. Campbell,

Maack & Sessions v. Debry, 2001 UT App. 397, ¶ 18, 38 P.3d 984, 990 (citing U.R.C.P. 56(e) & Thayne v. Beneficial Utah, Inc., 874 P.2d 120, 124 (Utah 1994)). Put another way, once the moving party has brought forth evidence either tending to prove a lack of a genuine issue of material fact or challenging the existence of one of the elements of the cause of action, the nonmoving party then bears the burden of providing some evidence in support of the essential elements of his or her claim. Jensen v. IHC Hosps., 944 P.2d 327, 339 (Utah 1997) (quoting Thayne v. Beneficial Utah, Inc., 874 P.2d 120, 124 (Utah 1994)). Although U.R.C.P. 56(e) allows the submission of affidavits by the parties, there is no requirement that all disputes of material fact be set forth in conflicting affidavits:

The rules of civil procedure do not require an answer or affidavits before the allegations of the complaint are deemed controverted. Rather, rule 56(c) clearly states “the judgment sought shall be rendered if the *pleadings*, depositions, *answers to interrogatories*, and *admissions on file*, together with affidavits, *if any*, show that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”

Gerbich v. Numed, 1999 UT 37, ¶ 11, 977 P.2d 1205, 1207 (emphasis in original); see also Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Atkin, Wright & Miles, Chartered, 681 P.2d 1258, 1261 (Utah 1984) (holding that summary judgment need not be affirmed merely because non-moving party failed to file affidavits to avoid summary judgment against him).

2. Preservation of Issue:

Appellants preserved this issue below by opposing Defendants’ joint motion for summary judgment before the trial court. R. 243-255.

**B. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ENTERING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WITHOUT ALLOWING PLAINTIFFS TO CONDUCT REQUESTED DISCOVERY**

1. Standard of Review:

A trial court's grant or denial of a Rule 56(f) motion is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. Price Development Co., L.P. v. Orem City, 2000 UT 26, ¶ 30, 995 P.2d 1237, 1248; Crossland Sav. v. Hatch, 877 P.2d 1241, 1243 (Utah 1994). Furthermore, to provide an adequate opportunity for discovery, the trial court should liberally grant Rule 56(f) motions, unless they are dilatory or lacking in merit. Price Development Co., L.P., 2000 UT 26 at ¶ 30. Furthermore, "[R]ule 56(f) motions should be granted liberally to provide adequate opportunity for discovery, because information gained during discovery may create genuine issues of fact sufficient to defeat a motion for summary judgment." Sandy City v. Salt Lake County, 794 P.2d 482, 489 (Utah Ct. App. 1990), rev'd on other grounds, 827 P.2d 212 (Utah 1992) (internal citations omitted) (citing Cox v. Winters, 678 P.2d 311, 313 (Utah 1984); see also Bridge v. Backman, 353 P.2d 909, 910 (Utah 1960) ("unless there is a showing that the disfavored parties cannot produce evidence which would reasonably support a finding in their favor on a material or determinative issue of fact, a summary judgment is erroneous.") (emphasis added)).

2. Preservation of Issue:

Appellants preserved this issue below through the affidavit of their counsel requesting the trial court, pursuant to U.R.C.P. 56(f), to permit discovery, including

deposing Shaw and Nielson regarding statements made in the pleadings and in their affidavits. R. 256-259.

### **III. CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES, RULES, AND REGULATIONS**

1. U.R.C.P. 56.<sup>2</sup>

### **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **A. NATURE OF THE CASE.**

This is an action for declaratory relief in which Plaintiffs below sought a declaration that they are entitled to (1) their undivided share of a 50% beneficial interest in certain oil and gas leases obtained as the result of a settlement of a suit in the United States Claims Court, and (2) their share of \$300,000 in cash proceeds generated by that settlement or, in the alternative, damages.

#### **B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW.**

On July 23, 2001, Plaintiffs<sup>3</sup> filed their Complaint for Declaratory Relief and Money Damages in the Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County, against Dan K. Shaw (“Shaw”) and Del-Rio Resources, Inc. (“Del Rio”).<sup>4</sup> R. 1-7. On April 11, 2002, Shaw filed his Answer and Counterclaim. R. 10-69. On April 19, 2002, Del Rio filed its Answer and Counterclaim. R. 70-78. On June 14, 2002, Plaintiffs filed their Reply to

---

<sup>2</sup> Referenced provisions are set out verbatim in the Addendum.

<sup>3</sup> Plaintiffs/Appellants are Western United Mines, Inc. (“Western”), Syndicators, Inc. (“Syndicators”), J.R. Kirk, Jr. (“Kirk”), and Steven D. Martens (“Martens”). In this brief, they are referred to collectively as “Plaintiffs.”

<sup>4</sup> Shaw and Del Rio, collectively, are referred to as “Defendants.”

Del Rio's Counterclaim. R. 79-81. On August 2, 2002, Shaw and Del Rio filed their Joint Motion for Summary Judgment, R. 223-226, and Joint Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment. R. 82-217. On August 7, 2002, Plaintiffs filed their Reply to Shaw's Counterclaim. R. 227-232. On September 9, 2002, Plaintiffs filed their Memorandum In Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, R. 243-255, and Affidavit under U.R.C.P. 56(f). R. 256-259. On September 20, 2002, Shaw and Del Rio filed their Reply Memorandum in support of their motion for summary judgment. R. 262-273. On September 23, 2002, the trial court scheduled the motion for summary judgment for hearing on October 28, 2002. R. 277-278. On October 28, 2002, the trial court heard oral argument on the motion. R. 286.

**C. DISPOSITION BELOW.**

On November 14, 2002, the trial court issued its Order and Summary Judgment (the "Judgment") granting Defendants' motion for summary judgment. R. 285-289. The trial court directed the entry of the Judgment as a final judgment pursuant to Rule 54(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. R. 289. On December 13, 2002, Plaintiffs filed their notice of appeal. R. 321-322.

**D. STATEMENT OF FACTS.**

The facts underlying this dispute date back to the 1980's when Del Rio, Western, Syndicators, Kirk, and Martens formed a joint venture to develop ten federal oil and gas leases (the "Oil Canyon Leases"), as well as two state of Utah oil and gas leases and two other federal oil and gas leases (the "Flat Rock Leases") covering lands in Uintah County, Utah. R. 31-32, 138-158, and 283. The surface of the lands covered by the Oil

Canyon Leases was owned by the Ute Indian Tribe (the “Tribe”). R. 156. Unfortunately, the Tribe and the United States Bureau of Indian Affairs (“BIA”) denied Del Rio and Plaintiffs access to the lands, thereby preventing them from developing the Oil Canyon Leases. R. 156. Therefore, the Oil Canyon Leases expired over the period of June 1, 1988, through January 29, 1989.<sup>5</sup> Del Rio and Plaintiffs brought suit against the United States in the United States Claims Court (the “Federal Litigation”) alleging that the BIA’s denial of access constituted (1) a breach of the terms of the Oil Canyon Leases, and (2) a taking of property without just compensation. R. 138-158. Del Rio and Plaintiffs did not seek an order reinstating the Oil Canyon Leases in the Federal Litigation.<sup>6</sup> R. 138-158. Instead, Del Rio and Plaintiffs sought damages in the amount of \$17,000,000. R. 157. Del Rio and Plaintiffs later amended their Complaint in the Federal Litigation to add as plaintiffs various other parties who were record title owners of various interests in the Oil Canyon Leases. R. 139-152.<sup>7</sup> However, many of those parties assigned, or agreed to assign, their interests in the Oil Canyon Leases to Del Rio while the Federal Litigation was pending. R. 167-168.

---

<sup>5</sup> The dates that the various Oil Canyon Leases expired are set forth approximately in the affidavit of Sandra Decker, Exhibit C to Shaw’s and Del Rio’s motion for summary judgment, R. 165-168, and exactly in Del-Rio Resources, Inc. v. United States, 46 Fed.Cl. 683, 688-9 (U.S. Fed.Cl.Ct. 2000).

<sup>6</sup> Indeed, because the case was brought in the United States Claims Court, this remedy was not available. See 28 U.S.C. § 1491(a)(1); see also Logan Canyon Cattle Assoc. v. U.S., 34 Fed. Cl. 165, 168 (Fed. Cl. Ct. 1995) (“The jurisdiction of the United States Court of Federal Claims encompasses only money claims against the United States.”).

<sup>7</sup> The plaintiffs in the Federal Litigation are collectively referred to as the “Federal Litigation plaintiffs.”



Although the Oil Canyon Leases expired, Del Rio and Plaintiffs were able to gain access to the Flat Rock Leases, and Del Rio and Plaintiffs developed those leases. R. 31. In 1993, Del Rio and Plaintiffs borrowed approximately \$780,000 from Shaw to be used to develop the Flat Rock Leases. R. 31. The loan was secured by all of Del Rio's, Western's, and Syndicators' interest in the Flat Rock Leases. R. 31. Unfortunately, Del Rio and Plaintiffs were not able to repay the monies they had borrowed from Shaw. R. 31. As a result, on May 12, 1995, Shaw, Del Rio, and Plaintiffs entered into an agreement (the "1995 Agreement")<sup>8</sup> that provided, among other things, as follows:

- (a) Del Rio and Plaintiffs assigned to Shaw all of their right, title, and interest in and to the Flat Rock Leases. 1995 Agreement at ¶1(i). R. 32.
- (b) Shaw agreed to appoint Del Rio as operator of the Flat Rock Leases. 1995 Agreement at ¶10. R. 38.
- (c) Kirk and Martens agreed to resign as officers and directors of Del Rio. 1995 Agreement at ¶5. R. 34.
- (d) The parties referred to the pending Federal Litigation and the need for cash to pay expenses being incurred in that litigation. 1995 Agreement at ¶¶4, 4.1 & 4.2. R. 33-34.
- (e) Shaw agreed to use his best efforts to "... enter into an agreement with the plaintiffs of such lawsuit to provide a maximum of thirty thousand dollars (\$30,000) to fund certain future expenses incurred by plaintiffs in such litigation . . . . No expenses shall be paid by Shaw directly to persons who are plaintiffs in the litigation or to affiliates of plaintiffs." 1995 Agreement at ¶4. R. 34.
- (f) The parties further agreed that "Any agreement between the plaintiffs and Shaw shall provide that if, as a result

---

<sup>8</sup> A copy of the 1995 Agreement is found in Exhibit C to the joint memorandum in support of the motion for summary judgment and in the Addendum. R. 31-63; Addendum, A-3.

of the litigation, additional leases are awarded, such leases shall be assigned to Shaw (or his affiliates); provided, however, plaintiffs shall be entitled to a fifty percent (50%) beneficial interest in such additional leases . . .” 1995 Agreement at ¶4.1. R. 34.

(g) The parties further agreed that “Any agreement between plaintiff(s) and Shaw shall provide that, [if] as a result of the litigation, a cash settlement is awarded to plaintiffs, Shaw shall be reimbursed for all expenses of litigation paid by Shaw and the balance of the proceeds shall be delivered free and clear to plaintiffs as damages and for payment of other expenses and costs of the litigation.” 1995 Agreement at ¶4.2. R. 34.

After the 1995 Agreement was signed, Shaw agreed to, and did, provide at least \$20,000 in funds to be used to pay costs in the Federal Litigation.<sup>9</sup> R. 173 (Shaw Affidavit, ¶6).

In 2000, the Federal Litigation settled. R. 159-164. As part of that settlement, a cash payment of \$300,000 was made to the Federal Litigation plaintiffs, and the ten Oil Canyon leases, which previously had expired, were “reinstated and extended” for three years. R. 159. Plaintiffs expected that the Oil Canyon Leases and the \$300,000 cash payment (together, “the Settlement Res”) would be distributed consistent with the 1995 Agreement and the funding agreement Shaw had entered into with the Federal Litigation plaintiffs. Instead, as it turned out, Del Rio and Shaw had other plans and proposed a different distribution of the Settlement Res. R. 343-350. When Del Rio and Shaw refused to recognize Plaintiffs’ interests, Plaintiffs brought the action below.

---

<sup>9</sup> Shaw’s affidavit may not accurately reflect the expense reimbursement he actually seeks. Shaw’s affidavit says that he provided approximately \$20,000 in funding, but the proposed distribution of the settlement proceeds contains an entry stating, “Less expenses to Dan Shaw for lawsuit” in the amount of \$47,765.00. R. 345.

## **V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

1. The trial court erred by entering summary judgment without explaining the reasons or basis for its decision. If the trial court's decision was based solely on its construction of the 1995 Agreement, it improperly failed to consider the impact of Shaw's performance of his obligation under the 1995 Agreement by providing funding for the Federal Litigation - - as contemplated by the 1995 Agreement. If the trial court based its decision on a finding that Shaw did not in fact reach the funding agreement contemplated by the 1995 Agreement, the trial court improperly resolved a disputed issue of material fact.

The real issues before the trial court were why, and under what terms, Shaw provided the funding for the Federal Litigation that was contemplated by the 1995 Agreement. The trial court's order entering summary judgment did not, and properly could not, resolve these issues. As a result, the Judgment must be reversed.

2. The trial court erred by entering summary judgment without allowing Plaintiffs to conduct certain requested discovery pursuant to U.R.C.P. 56(f). Had Plaintiffs been allowed to conduct the requested discovery, they would have been able to produce additional evidence showing summary judgment was improper.

## **VI. ARGUMENT**

### **A. INTRODUCTION.**

The Judgment is terse, containing few findings of fact and only one conclusion of law. R. 285-289. The single conclusion of law states, in its entirety, as follows:

The 1995 Agreement does not grant Plaintiffs herein any interest in the ten Federal Leases or the \$300,000 cash award in the Federal Action, and Plaintiffs' claims thereunder are denied with prejudice.

(¶ 9.) The trial court does not explain the basis for this conclusion, and the basis is not otherwise apparent from the remainder of the Judgment. Therefore, one can only speculate as to how the trial court reached this conclusion.

When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, this Court reviews the trial court's legal conclusions for correctness, affording those conclusions no deference. Ault v. Holden, 2002 UT 33, ¶ 15, 44 P.3d 781, 787. Furthermore, because summary judgment is granted as a matter of law, the reviewing court may reconsider the trial court's legal conclusions. Id. Therefore, although the Judgment does not contain the trial court's reasoning, as required by U.R.C.P. 52(a),<sup>10</sup> the absence of such reasoning does not prevent review. The focus remains upon whether Shaw and Del Rio were entitled to judgment as a matter of law on the basis of undisputed facts. Careful scrutiny of the Motion for Summary Judgment shows that summary judgment should not have been entered.

**B. THE BASIC CONTENTIONS OF THE PARTIES.**

In the 1995 Agreement, Shaw agreed to use his best efforts to reach a funding agreement with the Federal Litigation plaintiffs to help pay for expenses in connection

---

<sup>10</sup> Under U.R.C.P. 52(a), the trial court is required to "issue a brief written statement of the ground for its decision on all motions granted under Rules 12(b), 50(a) and (b), 56, and 59 when the motion is based on more than one ground." Nonetheless, the failure to do so, while potentially justifying an appellate court's remand to the trial court, is not, in and of itself, reversible error. See Neerings v. Utah State Bar, 817 P.2d 320, 323 (Utah 1991).

with that litigation. Under the terms of the 1995 Agreement, any such funding agreement was required to contain the following two provisions:

- (1) Any additional leases awarded as a result of the Federal Litigation were to be assigned to Shaw (or his affiliates); provided that the Federal Litigation plaintiffs were entitled to a 50% beneficial interest in the additional leases; and
- (2) If any cash settlement is awarded to the Federal Litigation plaintiffs, Shaw would be reimbursed for “all expenses of litigation paid by Shaw” and the remaining proceeds would be delivered to the Federal Litigation plaintiffs.

R. 34. Plaintiffs maintain that Shaw performed his obligations under the 1995 Agreement by reaching an agreement to provide and then by actually providing funding for the Federal Litigation. Therefore, Plaintiffs contend that they are entitled to a distribution of the Federal Litigation Settlement Res in accordance with the formula set forth in the 1995 Agreement. Shaw admits that he reached an agreement to provide funding to Del Rio, the lead plaintiff in the Federal Litigation, and that he provided at least \$20,000 in funding to Del Rio and the other Plaintiffs to cover costs in the Federal Litigation. Shaw denies, however, that this funding was provided “pursuant to the provisions of Paragraphs 4, 4.1, or 4.2 of the 1995 Agreement.” R. 173. Del Rio denies altogether that Shaw reached an agreement to provide funding to the Federal Litigation plaintiffs (Del Rio Answer ¶14, R. 72), but this denial is inconsistent with Shaw’s Answer and his affidavit.

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