2002

Western United Mines, Inc., a Utah corporation,
Syndicators, Inc., a Utah corporation, J.R. Kirk, Jr.,
an individual, and Steven D. Martens, and
individual v. Dan K. Shaw, an individual, and Del-
Rio Resources, Inc., a Utah Corporation : Brief of
Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The case that the Appellants present before this Court is significantly different from the case they pleaded and argued below. Before the trial court, the Appellants unambiguously relied entirely on the 1995 Agreement as the source of their alleged rights in the Oil Canyon Leases. Now, however, Appellants admit that the 1995 Agreement does not grant them the rights they seek, and instead insist that their claims were actually based on *other* agreements, most importantly, a hypothetical litigation funding agreement that Shaw supposedly reached with one or more unnamed Federal Plaintiffs, that just *may have* granted one or more of the Appellants some rights in one or more of the Oil Canyon Leases.

Appellants' new arguments are no more valid than their original ones. While Appellants deny that their claims below were based entirely on the 1995 Agreement, their own Complaint proves otherwise. Moreover, when Del Rio and Shaw moved for summary judgment below, Appellants did not rely on anything other than the 1995 Agreement as the source of their purported rights in the Oil Canyon Leases. Thus, it is improper for Appellants to pursue new theories now. Instead, their claims are limited to the claims they made below, i.e., under the 1995 Agreement.

And the 1995 Agreement clearly does not support Appellants' claims. First, and most importantly, the plain language of the 1995 Agreement shows that it does not grant any rights in the Oil Canyon Leases. Instead, the 1995 Agreement merely states that Shaw would enter into a subsequent funding agreement with the "plaintiffs" of the Federal Litigation, and that this subsequent funding agreement was supposed to grant

those "plaintiffs" interests in the Leases. Thus, any claim based on the 1995 Agreement fails as a matter of law.

Further, the key language in the 1995 Agreement is far too indefinite to support Appellants' claims. The 1995 Agreement posits that fifty percent of the "beneficial interests" in the "additional leases" will ultimately be assigned to "plaintiffs [of the Federal Litigation]." But there were ten leases, several types of "interests," and twenty-seven such plaintiffs. It is simply impossible for Appellants to establish that any one of them was supposed to receive any particular interest in any particular lease. In short, Appellants' claims are based on pure speculation.

Moreover, the 1995 Agreement states only that interests in "additional" leases might be assigned to the "plaintiffs," and the Oil Canyon Leases, which were in existence already, are not "additional" leases. The interests in the Oil Canyon Leases were already owned by several individuals and entities who were not parties to the 1995 Agreement, and it would not be reasonable to conclude that the parties to the 1995 Agreement would purport to divide among themselves rights that belonged to others.

Finally, the trial court did not abuse its ample discretion in rejecting Appellants' request under Rule 56(f) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure for additional time to depose Defendant Shaw and Mr. Gerald Nielson. When Del Rio and Shaw moved for summary judgment, the case had been pending for over a year, and an additional three months passed after the motion was filed before the hearing on the motion took place. Yet Appellants did not move to depose Shaw or Nielson, or anyone else, nor have they explained why. Additionally, because the summary judgment motion was based on the

plain language of the 1995 Agreement, and other indisputable facts, the additional discovery Appellants purportedly sought would not have had an effect on the outcome of the motion. The Agreement says what it says, regardless of what discovery is done. Moreover, Appellants' argument that there *might* be a litigation funding agreement, and that the agreement *might* grant them some rights, is nothing but speculation, which does not compel relief under Rule 56(f).

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED APPELLANTS' CLAIMS FOR AN INTEREST IN THE OIL CANYON LEASES

A. Appellants' claims were based exclusively on the 1995 Agreement, not on Shaw's purported "litigation funding agreement" or any other agreement.

Appellants have apparently recognized, as Del Rio and Shaw argued below, that the 1995 Agreement did not grant, or even *profess* to grant, any "beneficial interests" in any of the Oil Canyon Leases. Therefore, Appellants have shifted their strategy on appeal, insisting instead that their claim to the leases is based on a "combination" of factors, and that the 1995 Agreement "is only the starting point, not the beginning and the end, of a proper analysis of Plaintiffs' claims." (Aplts.' Br. at 15, 18.) Essentially, Appellants argue that summary judgment was improper because they *might have been* granted lease interests in a "litigation funding agreement" that Shaw *might have entered into* with some of the plaintiffs in the Federal Litigation. (See, e.g., Aplts.' Br. at 12.)

The Court should summarily reject Appellants' eleventh-hour attempt to base their claims on anything other than the 1995 Agreement. Of course, Appellants cite no

evidence in the record suggesting that a funding agreement was ever reached with the Federal Plaintiffs, that the purported funding agreement granted interests in any of the leases to Appellants, or what interests the funding agreement granted Appellants. More importantly, however, the Court need not even address the merits of the supposed "funding agreement," because Appellants never pursued any claims based on the purported funding agreement, or on anything other than the 1995 Agreement, before the trial court.

1. Appellants' Complaint was based entirely on the 1995 Agreement.

Appellants' Complaint makes it absolutely clear that Appellants were asserting claims in the Oil Canyon Leases based solely on the 1995 Agreement signed by themselves, Shaw, and Del Rio. (See Complaint, Add. Ex. 1, R. 1-7.) The first seven paragraphs of the Complaint identified the parties (¶¶ 1-6) and alleged jurisdiction and venue (¶ 7). The Complaint then alleged as follows:

8. The parties hereto are *parties to an "Agreement" dated May 12, 1995*, a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto.
9. *The Agreement provides* in pertinent part for the assignment, to Shaw, of interests in two federal oil and gas leases . . . and two state oil and gas leases
10. *The Agreement also provides* for the funding, by Shaw, of litigation against the United States in which the parties hereto, excluding Shaw, were plaintiffs
11. *The Agreement provides* that Shaw would "use his best efforts to enter into an agreement with the plaintiffs of such lawsuit to provide a maximum of thirty thousand dollars (\$30,000) to fund certain future expenses incurred by plaintiffs in such litigation."

12. *The Agreement provides* that with respect to the \$30,000 in litigation expenses, "[n]o expenses shall be paid by Shaw directly to persons who are plaintiffs in the litigation or to affiliates of plaintiffs."
13. *The Agreement provides* that "[a]ny agreement between the plaintiffs and Shaw shall provide that if, as a result of the litigation, additional leases are awarded, such leases shall be assigned to Shaw (or his affiliates); provided, however, plaintiff [*sic*] shall be entitled to a fifty percent (50%) beneficial interest in such additional leases."
14. Shaw did in fact fund the lawsuit pursuant to agreement with plaintiffs.
15. The lawsuit was settled pursuant to the terms of a "Settlement Agreement," a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto.
16. The Settlement Agreement provides in pertinent part for extension of the terms of 10 federal oil and gas leases, which do not include the two in the Agreement.
-
19. Plaintiffs are entitled to a beneficial interest in the 10 leases *according to the Agreement*.
-
25. Defendants in this case have proposed distribution of the settlement with the United States in a manner that is inconsistent *with the Agreement*.
26. Specifically, defendants have denied plaintiffs Western United Mines, Inc., J.R. Kirk, Jr. and Steven D. Martens any interest in the 10 federal oil and gas leases.
27. Defendants have proposed a distribution of interest in the leases to plaintiff Syndicators, Inc., that is *less than what is provided for by the Agreement*.
-

32. Plaintiffs are entitled to declaration of a beneficial interest in the 10 federal oil and gas leases that is *consistent with the Agreement*.

These passages from the Complaint demonstrate beyond doubt that the Appellants' claim was based exclusively on the 1995 Agreement. In fact, there is only one place in the entire Complaint where Appellants actually claim to be entitled to interests in the Oil Canyon Leases: paragraph 19, which unequivocally avers that Appellants are entitled to an interest in the leases "according to the Agreement." (Complaint ¶ 19.) Indeed, the Complaint also alleges that the Appellants are entitled to interests in 8 other tracts of land "according to the Agreement" and a portion of the cash settlement "according to the Agreement." (Complaint ¶¶ 22, 24.) The wrong that the defendants allegedly committed, according to the Complaint, was to "propose[] distribution of the settlement with the United States in a manner that is *inconsistent with the Agreement*," in part by proposing a distribution of lease interests to Plaintiff Syndicators "that is *less than what is provided for by the Agreement*." (Complaint ¶¶ 25, 27.) Therefore, according to Appellants, they were entitled to a "declaration of beneficial interest" in the Oil Canyon Leases "*consistent with the Agreement*." (Complaint ¶ 32.)

Every equitable or legal right must have a *source*. The only source claimed for the Appellants' alleged rights in the Oil Canyon Leases was the 1995 Agreement. In fact, when they sought leave to amend to pursue a joint venture theory against Del Rio, Appellants admitted that they consciously *chose* to rely only on the 1995 Agreement because "they thought their rights and interest were clear from the 1995 Agreement." (Mem. in Supp. of Mot. for Leave to File First Amended Complaint, Add. Ex. 4, R. 293.)

Appellants further explained that they "*thought that the 1995 Agreement clearly established their rights in the 10 oil and gas leases that are and have been the subject of this action. There would have been no need for the amendment if the unambiguous provisions of the Agreement had been enforced.*" (R. 333.)⁷ Accordingly, any attempt now by Appellants to assert that they have rights deriving from a *different* source should be rejected. See, e.g., Allisen v. American Legion Post 134, 763 P.2d 806, 809 (Utah 1988) (refusing to consider appellant's common law negligence claim on appeal because complaint was brought only under Dram Shop Act); Davis v. Mulholland, 25 Utah 2d 56, 475 P.2d 834, 834-35 (1970) ("Ordinarily an appellant cannot change his theory of the case on appeal from that presented to the court below.").

2. Appellants did not assert rights under the funding agreement before the trial court.

Further, in response to Del Rio's summary judgment motion, Appellants did not assert that they had any rights in the Oil Canyon Leases under the purported funding agreement that Appellants assert Shaw reached with the Federal Plaintiffs. Instead, Appellants argued only (1) that the 1995 Agreement was not too indefinite to enforce, because the missing terms could be "added by implication"; and (2) that the 1995

⁷ Indeed, it is significant that even Appellants' proposed *amended* complaint against Del Rio, filed after their original complaint was dismissed with prejudice, still did not assert any ownership interests in any of the Oil Canyon Leases under the purported funding agreement. Rather, the Amended Complaint attempted to claim rights pursuant to a purported *joint venture* among themselves and Del Rio. Thus, it is apparent that the Appellants did not even *think* of claiming any interests in the Oil Canyon Leases derived from the purported funding agreement until after they initiated their appeal.

Agreement was ambiguous with respect to whether the leases were "additional leases."
(See Pls.' Oppo. Mem., R. 243-55.)

"[I]t is axiomatic that matters not presented to the trial court may not be raised for the first time on appeal." Franklin Fin. v. New Empire Dev. Co., 659 P.2d 1040, 1044 (Utah 1983). Thus, Rule 46 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure expressly requires that a party wishing to challenge a ruling or order must "make[] known to the court the action which he desires the court to take or his objection to the action of the court *and his grounds therefor*." Utah R. Civ. P. 46 (emphasis added). The record must "clearly show that [the issue] was timely presented to the trial court *in a manner sufficient to obtain a ruling thereon*." Busch Corp. v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 743 P.2d 1217, 1219 (Utah 1987) (emphasis added) (quoting Franklin, 659 P.2d at 1045). Here, the Appellants never argued to the trial court that summary judgment was improper because the Appellants were, or may have been, granted rights in the leases in the purported funding agreement between Shaw and the Federal Plaintiffs. Appellants are thus precluded from pursuing such an argument on appeal.

B. The 1995 Agreement does not grant Appellants any definable or enforceable rights in any of the Oil Canyon Leases.

1. Appellants have admitted that the 1995 Agreement does not grant them rights in the Oil Canyon Leases.

Appellants *admit* in their brief that they are no longer claiming that the 1995 Agreement grants them any rights in the Oil Canyon Leases:

Appellants do not claim that the 1995 Agreement, in and of itself, grants them interests in the Oil Canyon Leases and the settlement cash proceeds.

(Aplts.' Br. at 15 (emphasis added).) By this admission, Appellants have conceded that the only theory they pursued in their Complaint, and the only theory they argued below is insufficient to support a judgment in their favor. Thus, the trial court's ruling dismissing Appellants' claims with prejudice should be affirmed, and the Court need not consider the matter any further.

2. The 1995 Agreement, by its plain language, did not grant Appellants any rights in the Oil Canyon Leases.

a. Paragraphs 4 and 4.1 of the 1995 Agreement are too indefinite to be enforceable by Appellants.

As established in the preceding section, Appellants' claim to an interest in the Oil Canyon Leases and the cash settlement was based entirely on paragraphs 4 and 4.1 of the 1995 Agreement. But as shown above, and as Appellants have admitted, these provisions did not grant Appellants any lease interests. Instead, paragraph 4 of the 1995 Agreement states that Shaw would use his "best efforts" to "enter into an agreement" with the Federal Plaintiffs to fund the Federal Litigation, and paragraph 4.1 states that the *litigation funding agreement* would provide that *the Federal Plaintiffs* would be entitled to an interest in any "additional leases" that were awarded as a result of the Federal Litigation. Thus, paragraphs 4 and 4.1 of the 1995 Agreement were nothing more than an "agreement to agree" on a transfer and distribution of lease interests. Further, paragraphs 4 and 4.1 of the 1995 Agreement are too indefinite to be enforceable, because there are no guidelines for determining what interest any of the Federal Plaintiffs was supposed to receive under the contemplated funding agreement. Instead, the distribution of interests was left for subsequent determination.

For *any* alleged contract to be enforceable, "there must be a meeting of the minds of the parties which must be spelled out, either expressly or impliedly, *with sufficient definiteness to be enforced.*" Valcarce v. Bitters, 12 Utah 2d 61, 362 P.2d 427, 428 (1961) (emphasis added). Accordingly, "'agreements to agree' are generally unenforceable because they leave open material terms for future consideration, and *the courts cannot create these terms for the parties.*" Harmon v. Greenwood, 596 P.2d 636, 639 (Utah 1979) (emphasis added).

Applying these principles, this Court has held that a lease option requiring the parties to agree on a rental rate was too indefinite to be enforced. See Brown's Shoe Fit v. Olch, 955 P.2d 357, 362-65 (Utah Ct. App. 1998). In Brown's, the would-be tenant and the landlord signed an interim agreement providing for a three-year lease, with two option periods. The agreement did not specify the rent that the tenant would pay during the option periods; instead, the agreement stated that the parties "must agree on the gross volume figure from which to base additional rent" for the option period.⁸ The court held that the option portion of the interim agreement was too indefinite to be enforceable.

The Court noted that while an "agreement to agree" is not *per se* unenforceable, such an agreement may be enforced only when the terms of the final agreement are spelled out in sufficient detail to demonstrate that the parties have actually agreed on the material terms:

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